**RECEIVED**

**Oct 27 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000290  
Case No. 2020-CP-46-02006

---

Eastwood Construction Partners, LLC and  
Eastwood Development Corporation,..... Appellants,

v.

GHD Brooks Creek, a North Carolina Limited Liability Company, and AF-Brooks  
Creek, LLC, a North Carolina Limited Liability Company, GHD River Falls, a  
North Carolina Limited Liability Company, and AF-River Falls, LLC, a North  
Carolina Limited Liability Company, Greenhawk Corporation, Inc. and

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT GRANTED PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE EASTWOOD COULD COMPLETE ESSENTIAL DISCOVERY?**
2. **DID APPELLANTS COME FORWARD WITH A “MERE SCINTILLA” OF EVIDENCE THAT CREATES A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT ON THEIR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE AND JOINT VENTURE CLAIMS?**
3. **DID APPELLANTS COME FORWARD WITH A “MERE SCINTILLA” OF EVIDENCE THAT THE ALLEGED CONTRACT WAS SUFFICIENTLY EVIDENCED IN MULTIPLE WRITINGS?**
4. **DID APPELLANTS COME FORWARD WITH A “MERE SCINTILLA” OF EVIDENCE THAT THEIR PART PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT TAKES IT OUT OF THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a dispute between Eastwood and Greenhawk over a contract and joint venture to purchase residential lots on two tracts of real property in York County, South Carolina (together, the “Properties”). Eastwood claims its contract with Greenhawk is evidenced by multiple writings and Eastwood’s part performance.

Appellants Eastwood Construction Partners, LLC and Eastwood Development Corporation (together, “Eastwood”) filed this action against Respondents GHD Brooks Creek, AF-Brooks Creek, LLC, GHD River Falls, LLC, AF-River Falls, LLC, and Greenhawk Corporation, Inc. (collectively, “Greenhawk”) seeking specific performance of contracts for the sale of the Properties, as well as other remedies. (R. pp. 142 - 178). Eastwood is a residential homebuilder, and Greenhawk is a land developer. (R. p. 73, ¶14). In 2014, Eastwood placed the Properties under contract and then assigned those contracts to Greenhawk. (R. p. 959 (58)<sup>1</sup>, ll. 2 - 4). Eastwood assigned the sales contracts pursuant to an agreement with Greenhawk whereby Greenhawk would develop the Properties and then sell finished lots back to Eastwood so Eastwood could build homes and townhomes for sale to consumers. (R. pp. 1314 (71), ll. 12 - 22; 1208, ll. 1 - 13; 1263; 959, l. 2 – 960, l. 25). In accordance with their contract, Eastwood assisted Greenhawk in the development of the Properties, to include expending \$360,000 in pre-development costs that have never been reimbursed and were to be treated as an earnest money deposit. (R. pp. 1333 (146), ll. 9 - 12; 892). Eastwood and Greenhawk also agreed to a pricing method for the lots—Greenhawk would sell the lots to Eastwood at a price that would generate a 20% return on its investment. (R. pp. 958 (56), ll. 7 – 20; 962 (70), ll. 11 – 13; 963 (75), ll. 7 – 16; 972 (112), ll. 11 – 16; 1300 (16), ll. 19 – 21;

---

<sup>1</sup> To minimize the size of the Record on Appeal, condensed deposition transcripts were used when available. As there are four transcript pages per printed page in the ROA, the specific page number cited will be shown with parenthesis.

1302 (23), ll. 18 – 21; 1306 (39), ll. 6 – 18; 1308 (49), ll. 8 – 12; 1321 (101), l. 12 - 1321 (102), l. 10).

Greenhawk never finished developing the lots for resale to Eastwood. In 2020, one of Eastwood’s officers happened to drive by one of the Properties, the Brooks Creek site, where he saw townhome construction underway. Only then did Eastwood learn that Greenhawk had contracted to sell finished lots to another residential homebuilder, Respondent TRI Pointe Homes, Inc. (“TRI Pointe”).

Eastwood filed suit against Greenhawk on June 30, 2020, and simultaneously filed lis pendens against the Properties. (R. pp. 142 - 178; 938 - 944). Greenhawk moved to dismiss the Complaint, and Eastwood filed a First Amended Complaint. The Circuit Court denied Greenhawk’s motion to dismiss. On September 4, 2020, TRI Pointe moved to intervene in the suit and was allowed to do so.

Eastwood filed a Second Amended Complaint on October 30, 2020, (R. pp. 84 - 113) and a Third Amended Complaint on January 7, 2021 (R. pp. 71 - 83). In its Third Amended Complaint, Eastwood brings claims for: 1) specific performance of its contract with Greenhawk; 2) breach of contract against Greenhawk; 3) unjust enrichment against Greenhawk and TRI Pointe; 4) unfair trade practices against Greenhawk and TRI Pointe; 5) tortious interference with contracts against TRI Pointe; 6) misappropriation of trade secrets against TRI Pointe; 7) breach of joint venture agreement against Greenhawk; 8) breach of partnership agreement against Greenhawk; 9) another claim for tortious interference with contractual relationships against TRI Pointe; and 10) interference with prospective business advantage against TRI Pointe. (R. pp. 72 – 73; ¶ 7–14).

In late 2021, Greenhawk and TRI Pointe filed motions for partial summary judgment seeking dismissal of Eastwood’s claims for specific performance and all other claims directly affecting title to the Properties. Eastwood filed a brief in opposition to both motions. (R). The

Circuit Court held a hearing on the motions on December 10, 2021. Eastwood objected to the motions as premature, arguing that Respondents were rushing the summary judgment process to consummate sale of the Properties Eastwood claims it is entitled to purchase before Eastwood—the party with the burden of proof—had completed discovery.

On January 14, 2022, the Circuit Court granted TRI Pointe’s motion in a written Order. (R. pp. 32-39). Eastwood moved the Court to reconsider, and, on February 15, 2022, the Court denied Eastwood’s motion to reconsider the TRI Pointe Order. (R. pp. 19 - 21). On February 15, 2022, the Court granted Greenhawk’s motion in a written Order. (R. pp. 22 - 31). Eastwood moved the Court to reconsider, and, on March 8, 2022, the Court denied Eastwood’s motion to reconsider the Greenhawk Order. (R. pp. 16 - 18).

The Circuit Court’s summary judgment orders were only partial and addressed only Eastwood’s claims for specific performance of the alleged contract. As a result, Eastwood’s other claims for damages, as well as Respondents’ counterclaims, are still pending.

Eastwood timely filed its notices of appeal on March 11, 2022. (R. pp. 286 - 313). Eastwood’s appeals were subsequently consolidated. (R. pp. 1387 - 1388). This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. *See Thornton v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Corp.*, 391 S.C. 297, 306, 705 S.E.2d 475, 480 (Ct. App. 2011) (“An order ‘involves the merits’ when it finally determines a substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action or defense.”).

After Eastwood filed the present appeal, Respondents moved the Circuit Court to lift the automatic stay and immediately cancel the lis pendens on the Properties. Eastwood opposed the motions in a written brief. (R. pp. 192 - 248). The Circuit Court granted the motions and lifted the stays in orders dated April 18, 2022. (R. pp. 5– 15). Eastwood filed a petition, pursuant to SCACR 241(d)(7), asking this Court to reverse those orders lifting the automatic stay. (R. pp. 179 – 191).

Respondents filed a joint return. As of the date of this brief, this Court has not ruled on Appellants' Rule 241(d)(7) petition.

### **FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

The facts in this case are still undeveloped because discovery is incomplete. What facts are known demonstrate that it was error for the Circuit Court to grant Respondents' partial summary judgment motions.

#### **I. THE PROPERTIES AND PARTIES**

Eastwood is a residential home builder, building homes in the major metropolitan areas of North and South Carolina. Eastwood is based in the Charlotte, North Carolina area. Greenhawk is a land development company based in Raleigh, North Carolina. Most of Greenhawk's land development activities are in the Raleigh and Greensboro areas of North Carolina, with a few properties in other areas including the properties at issue in this case. Greenhawk has no office or location in York County or the Charlotte area.

Prior to 2013, Greenhawk and Eastwood engaged in multiple business transactions where Greenhawk had either developed land into buildable lots, or taken over existing land developments and completed the development of lots. Once the development work was complete, Greenhawk sold those completed, ready to build lots to Eastwood so Eastwood could construct homes. The transaction at issue in this case was an extension of that ongoing business relationship between Greenhawk and Eastwood.

In 2013, Eastwood, through its then Vice President of Land, Joe Dority, identified the real property at issue in this case and placed all of the affected tracts under contract to purchase, including the payment of earnest money deposits. (R. p. 959 (58), ll. 2–4). The purpose of that effort was to prevent others from gaining access to the property. The two properties were located off of Gold Hill Road in York County, South Carolina. One parcel was approximately 12 acres

and the other was 51 acres. (R. pp. 156 - 174). In anticipation of their purchase, Eastwood began preliminary development work on the Properties for the joint benefit of Greenhawk and Eastwood, including engineering, site design, and municipal related permitting. While the preliminary work was ongoing, Eastwood's Dority entered into an agreement with Greenhawk's Craig Briner regarding both properties. Pursuant to that agreement, Eastwood would assign its rights to purchase the properties to Greenhawk, Greenhawk would develop the properties in accordance with Eastwood's specifications, and Greenhawk would sell completed lots to Eastwood. (R. p. 817 (71), ll. 12 – 22; 530 (51), ll. 1 – 13; 1263; 959, (58) l. 2 – (59) l. 25).

Craig Briner was a founding member and at the time was president of Greenhawk Corporation. (R. p. 948 (15) l. 24 – (16), l. 6; 975 (123), l. 24). He was also one of Greenhawk Development, LLC's three managers with full authority to enter into agreements with Eastwood. (R. pp. 1100 - 1101).<sup>2</sup> Part of the reasoning for deciding to purchase the land and enter the agreement with Eastwood was that Eastwood would be buying the lots, providing a source of income and return on investment. (R. p. 954 (37), l. 7 – (38), l.1). In the 2013–2014 time frame, through the middle of 2018, Mr. Briner was the sole person responsible for Greenhawk's land development activities. Once he had authority to proceed from Mr. Agarwal and Mr. DesVergers, Greenhawk's other managers at the time, no one else at Greenhawk had knowledge of what arrangements were made with Eastwood or other developers. (R. p. 949 (18), ll. 13 – 25).

The Properties are within a few thousand feet of one another, and Eastwood considered them two parts of a single development project. (R. p. 528, (44), ll. 13 – 23; (45), ll. 5 – 12). The larger tract was known as the River Falls site, and the smaller tract was known as the Brooks Creek

---

<sup>2</sup> Since Mr. Jackson was deposed the week before the December 10, 2021 summary judgment hearing, a transcript of his testimony was not available for the hearing or Eastwood's briefing. However, Judge Hall allowed Eastwood to supplement its summary judgment record with cited portions of the transcripts once those were available.

site.<sup>3</sup> Greenhawk and Eastwood agreed that River Falls would be developed as a single-family subdivision with detached home lots, and Brooks Creek would be developed as a townhome subdivision with groups of attached lots.<sup>4</sup> (R. pp. 1239, ll. 19 – 21; 1243, ll. 8 – 11; 1314 (71), ll. 12 – 22; 959, (58), l. 2 – (59) l. 25).

Pursuant to the Eastwood-Greenhawk agreement, Eastwood assigned both land sale contracts to Greenhawk at roughly the same time. (R. pp. 175 – 177).<sup>5</sup> Greenhawk provided no consideration to Eastwood for the assignments other than the agreement to develop the properties to Eastwood’s specifications and then to sell the lots to Eastwood. (*Id.*). When Greenhawk closed on the actual purchase, Eastwood received reimbursement of the earnest money it had paid for the Brooks Creek property but received no reimbursement related to the River Falls property. (R. pp. 1285 – 1293).<sup>6</sup> Both before and after Greenhawk closed on the Properties, Eastwood arranged for and paid for development work all for Greenhawk’s benefit. In total, Eastwood spent roughly \$570,000 for development costs at River Falls and Brooks Creek. (R. pp. 1294 - 1295). Of that amount, \$360,000 was never reimbursed. (R. p. 1333 (146), ll. 9 – 12). Rather Greenhawk and Eastwood agreed that Greenhawk would treat Eastwood’s early payments as an earnest money deposit for the purchase of lots in River Falls and Brooks Creek. (R. pp. 1032; 1151 - 1152).<sup>7</sup> To

---

<sup>3</sup> The Brooks Creek site was later known as Brooks Springs. TRI Pointe refers to the site as “Ashburn.”

<sup>4</sup> Eastwood picked the names for both developments. (R. p. 961 (66) l. 24 – (67), l. 11).

<sup>5</sup> Though the River Falls assignments are unsigned, Greenhawk does not contest that they were signed. (R. p. 960 (63), ll. 14 – 16).

<sup>6</sup> Since Mr. White was deposed the week before the December 10, 2021 summary judgment hearing, a transcript of his testimony was not available for the hearing or Eastwood’s briefing. However, Judge Hall allowed Eastwood to supplement its summary judgment record with cited portions of the transcripts once those were available.

<sup>7</sup> Since Mr. Medlin was deposed the week before the December 10, 2021 summary judgment hearing, a transcript of his testimony was not available for the hearing or Eastwood’s briefing. However, Judge Hall allowed Eastwood to supplement its summary judgment record with cited portions of the transcripts once those were available.

date, Greenhawk has not sold lots to Eastwood, nor has it refunded Eastwood this earnest money deposit. (R. p. 1333 (146), ll. 9 – 12).

After Greenhawk closed on the Properties, Eastwood and Greenhawk worked together to develop the River Falls and Brooks Creek projects. Eastwood contracted with an engineering firm, Land Design, to provide consolidated services for both projects. (*See, e.g.*, First Am. Compl., Ex. L, Land Design Invoice) (R. pp. 140 - 141). Land Design developed a plan for River Falls that called for the development of 138 individual lots. (R. pp. 1086 - 1087). Land Design also created a site plan for Brooks Creek to have 58 townhome lots. (R. p. 1278). Eastwood paid all of these engineering and design expenses for the properties. (R. pp. 1294 - 1295). Both sets of plans identify Eastwood as the home builder.

Eastwood also contracted for wetland services with Leonard S. Rindner and for environmental services with Summit ECS, Inc. on both properties. (*Id.*). Callahan Grading Company provided general contractor services for development work on both Properties. (R. pp. 1251 – 1252)

Briner testified unequivocally that he was the person at Greenhawk with the authority to enter the contract with Eastwood. He confirmed that the terms of the agreement with Eastwood were reached in conjunction with the approval by Greenhawk to enter into the transaction, accept the assignment of the land purchase contracts, and close the purchase. (R. pp. 949 (18), ll. 15 – 25; 960 (64), l. 2 – 961 (65), l. 5). Throughout development, Eastwood and Greenhawk agreed that, after all costs were factored in, the lot prices would be calculated such that Greenhawk would receive a 20% return. (R. pp. 958 (56), ll. 7 – 20; 962 (70), ll. 11 – 13; 963 (75), ll. 7–16; 972 (112), ll. 11 – 16; 1300 (16) ll. 19–21; 1302 (23), ll. 18 – 21; 1306 (39), ll. 6 – 18; 1308 (4), ll. 8 – 12; 1321 (101), l. 12 – 1322 (102), l. 10).

As Mr. Briner testified:

Q. What was GreenHawk's I would say standard estimated markup over costs for a lot?

THE WITNESS: Typically, we were trying to get sort of a 20 percent IRR number. Some were more, if we both cured it ourself. Some were less, if the risk was assumed to be less or the time frame was shorter than sort of normal takedown. But 20 IRR.

Q. And how would you go about calculating that for any given project?

A. Obviously, you start with the cost, the length of time that it would take to go ahead and sell those, typically in a takedown schedule, over a period of a couple three years, something like that typically.

And use that time frame, and then the sales price, which frequently had escalators in them, given the time that it took to consume them.

Q. And was that part of the analysis that would have been done at the initiation of a project to get Mr. Agarwal's approval and permission to make the acquisition and have it funded?

A. Typically, yes.

Q. To your recollection, was Mr. Dority or anybody else at Eastwood aware of GreenHawk's standard expected 20 percent IRR on its development projects?

A. I think -- I think Joe Dority was aware of what we were trying to target, I'm pretty sure.

Q. And was he aware that costs, you know, that the takedown schedule and price escalators would roughly be pegged so that GreenHawk would get a 20 percent rate of return on its money over the life of the takedown as far as you know?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 958 (55), l. 6 – (56), l. 20).

After Mr. Dority left Eastwood in late 2016, Joe Polite, became Eastwood's Vice President of Land. (R. p. 1202, ll. 1 – 5). Polite concurred with Briner's testimony on the pricing of the lots:

Q. So Eastwood's position right now at this deposition is it will pay whatever the confirmed net costs are that is GreenHawk's costs minus Eastwood's costs and will guarantee a 20 percent rate of return to GreenHawk on that number

and it's compelled to accept that price and cannot back out. Is that Eastwood's testimony?

A. I would say yes.

Q. Okay. All right.

A. If –

Q. If what?

A. No, if we all confirm the pricing and the costs, both parties together, we, being GreenHawk, if we confirm those prices, yes, we would be willing to purchase based on those costs.

Q. You said pricing and costs. You said pricing and costs. As I understand your testimony costs determine the price, correct?

A. Plus profit less our investment.

(R. pp. 1328 (129), l. 12 – 1329 (130), l. 5).

This price agreement within the Eastwood-Greenhawk unwritten contract was borne out by the numerous “pro formas” sent from Greenhawk to Eastwood that show a projected IRR near 20% for both Properties. (R. pp. 1018 – 1028; 1033). Greenhawk included Eastwood in meetings and discussions where the pro forma analysis was discussed. (R. p. 962 (72), ll.2 – 8). In other words, after all costs were accounted for, Eastwood would pay a lot price and on a schedule that allowed Greenhawk to reach the 20% IRR mark. (R. pp. 1328 (129), l. 12 – 1329 (130), l.5; 958 (56), ll. 7 – 20; 962 (70), ll. 11 – 13; 963 (75), ll. 7–16; 972 (112), ll. 11 – 16).

Greenhawk’s internal documents from 2016 confirmed that Eastwood was the intended buyer of the lots and that the costs, and cost increases were the prohibiting factor in having a final lot sales price. (R. pp. 1115 - 1139). Even after this lawsuit began, Briner confirmed to Greenhawk that lot pricing had been delayed because of increased costs. (R. pp. 1153 - 1154). However, Briner was also clear that the agreement to price lots at 20% over costs had never changed:

Q. And was there ever any change in the discussion with Eastwood about the 20 percent internal rate of return expectation on the project?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. And was there ever a point in time that you recall anyone at Eastwood saying that they would not be willing to accommodate a purchase price for River Falls that would provide GreenHawk with that 20 percent rate of return?

A. I don't think we ever got -- no, no.

(R. p. 963 (75), ll. 7 - 16).

## **II. EASTWOOD AND GREENHAWK WORK JOINTLY ON DEVELOPMENT BUT EXPERIENCE DELAYS.**

Development at River Falls by Callahan Grading, the general contractor, began in 2014. (R. pp. 1029 - 1031). Due to wetlands incursions and other code violations by Callahan, work was immediately stopped in early 2015 until remediation efforts were approved. (*Id.*). There were other delays at both Properties due to general contractor errors, licensing problems, sewer connections, and other issues. (R. p. 1036).

During this time period, Joe Dority personally monitored the initial development at the River Falls site and worked with Briner. (R. pp. 959 (59), ll.11 – 14; 959 (60), ll. 1 – 6; 969 (99), ll. 2 – 6). Dority served as the primary point of contact for various contractors, and he was listed as the primary contact for the City of Tega Cay's storm water and sediment control plan. (R. pp. 1245 – 1246; 1088 – 1095). Greenhawk and Eastwood worked closely together on the development timelines for both Properties. (R. pp. 136 - 138). After Dority left Eastwood, Eastwood's engineer, Pat Quinn, would occasionally visit the Properties and report back to Mr. Briner. Because this was part of the contract, Eastwood (or Dority or Quinn) was never compensated by Greenhawk for those efforts. (R. p. 963 (78), ll. 3 – 19).

In 2014, Greenhawk and Eastwood were informed by the South Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”) that the planned entrance to River Falls would have to be moved a few

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