RECEIVED

Oct 18 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000290  
Case No. 2020-CP-46-02006

---

Eastwood Construction Partners, LLC and  
Eastwood Development Corporation,

Appellants,

v.

GHD Brooks Creek, a North Carolina Limited Liability Company; AF-Brooks Creek, LLC, a North Carolina Limited Liability Company; GHD Rivers Falls, LLC, a North Carolina Limited Liability Company; AF-River Falls, LLC, a North Carolina Limited Liability Company; GreenHawk Corporation, Inc.; and TRI Pointe Homes, Inc.

Respondents.

---

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

**2. Appellants’ part performance allegations are insufficient to remove the alleged lot sales contracts from the Statute of Frauds because the material**

**terms of the alleged contracts were never agreed to and Appellants' actions did not refer "solely" to the alleged contracts.**

In South Carolina, "sufficient part performance of a parol contract for the conveyance of land will remove the contract from the statute of frauds." *Scurry v. Edwards*, 232 S.C. 53, 100 S.E.2d 812 (1957). For the "part performance" exception from the Statute of Frauds to apply, however, all of the following elements must be present: (1) evidence of the contract's terms by proof that is clear, definite, and certain; (2) the party's partial execution clearly and unequivocally relates to the agreement; and (3) the party who requests performance had completed or was willing to complete its part of the oral contract. *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 311, 683 S.E.2d 803, 811 (Ct. App. 2009).

As this list of requirements makes clear, the doctrine of part performance is intended to *illuminate* a contract to which the parties have already agreed, not to *create* a contract for which material terms are deficient. Accordingly, because Appellants' own admissions establish that the parties never reached an agreement as to all material terms of the alleged lot purchase contracts, the "part performance" doctrine is inapplicable here. Even if such material terms had been agreed upon, Appellants' alleged part performance did not clearly and unequivocally relate to the agreements. As such, the Statute of Frauds still applies and bars enforcement of the alleged contracts.

***a. Appellants' evidence of contract terms is unclear, indefinite, and uncertain.***

The first element of the part performance doctrine is clear evidence of the contract's terms by proof that is clear, definite, and certain. *Fesmire*, 385 S.C. at 311. As this part of the test indicates, part performance is one way (other than a writing) of revealing material contract terms *that already exist*. Yet as discussed above, the price, takedown schedule, and deposit for the properties were never agreed to in the first instance, much less clearly, definitely, or certainly. Mr.

Polite repeatedly conceded that “further negotiations and discussions” were required to determine (i) the specific price Eastwood Construction would pay for the lots, (ii) the takedown schedule by which it would acquire the lots, and (iii) the deposit that it would pay toward the lots. (R. p. 1304, DT p. 30, line 10-p. 31, line 21). Indeed, as late as the deposition of Eastwood Construction’s corporate designee in October 2021, Appellants *still* could not say what the price for the Brooks Creek or River Falls lots would be if Appellants prevail on their specific performance claim. (R. p. 1306, DT p. 38, lines 6-11; p. 1325, DT p. 120, lines 6-19).

While South Carolina courts have apparently not yet addressed a part performance argument in the context of an alleged contract for which no price had been agreed upon, courts in nearby jurisdictions have declined to apply the doctrine under similar circumstances. *See Zappa v. Basden*, 188 Ga. App. 472, 475, 373 S.E.2d 246, 248-49 (1988) (declining to apply the part performance exception to a contract for the sale of land where the price was agreed to and part of it was paid, but the details for the payment of the remaining portion had not been agreed to); *Brenda Darlene, Inc. v. Bon Secour Fisheries, Inc.*, 101 So. 3d 1242, 1250 (Ala. Civ. App. 2012) (“Because the parties do not agree on the price term, the partial-performance exception cannot be fairly applied, because it would impose one party’s price term over that proposed by the other party.”). The reasoning in these cases is equally applicable and compelling here. Appellants and GreenHawk never agreed on a definite price for lots in the Brooks Creek and River Falls lots, so no enforceable contract exists. Through their request for specific performance, Appellants invite this Court to turn uncertain and indefinite pro forma “projections” into an enforceable contract with clear and definite price terms. Forcing such terms upon Respondents would put this Court in the position of a *negotiator* imposing one party’s price on the other, rather than have this Court act as an *adjudicator* of a price to which both sides had already agreed. Because there is no dispute

that the parties left material terms (including price) open for future agreement, Appellants cannot provide evidence of contract terms that is clear, definite, and certain. Accordingly, the part performance doctrine is not applicable here, and the Statute of Frauds bars enforcement of the alleged agreements.

i. **Appellants' alleged part performance neither clearly nor unequivocally relates to the purported agreements.**

Even if this Court were to find that all material terms of the contracts for Eastwood Construction to buy lots in Brooks Creek and River Falls were clear, definite and certain, the Statute of Frauds would still bar Appellants' claims because the alleged acts of "part performance" do not relate solely to the alleged contracts. "In order for part performance of an oral agreement to remove the agreement from operation of the Statute of Frauds and permit specific performance, Appellants must establish acts which relate clearly and unequivocally to the agreement, *exclusive of any other relation between parties touching such agreement.*" *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105–06, 382 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1989) (emphasis added) (citing *Aust v. Beard*, 230 S.C. 515, 96 S.E.2d 558 (1957)). Put another way, one party must do "some act *essential to the performance of the agreement* resulting in loss to himself and benefit to the other." *Graham v. Prince*, 293 S.C. 77, 81, 358 S.E.2d 714, 717 (Ct. App. 1987) (emphasis added). Appellants cannot satisfy these tests.

Appellants argue that three actions on their part establish part performance: (1) Eastwood Development's uncompensated relinquishment to GreenHawk of the right to buy the Brooks Creek and Rivers Falls tracts; (2) Eastwood Development's uncompensated transfer of property to GreenHawk; and (3) Appellants' uncompensated improvements to the properties. (App. Br. 22). The first two of these acts were carried out by Eastwood *Development*, not Eastwood *Construction*, however, and thus cannot be cited as part performance by Eastwood *Construction* of the alleged

lot purchase contracts. Notably, Appellants persistently and collectively refer to themselves as “Eastwood” throughout their brief, a reference that blurs the distinction that is fatal to their part performance argument.

Even if Eastwood *Development’s* relinquishment of the right to purchase the Brooks Creek and River Falls properties to GreenHawk, and its subsequent conveyance of another sliver of land to GreenHawk, could be attributable to Eastwood Construction for part performance purposes, such acts do not solely relate to a contract for Eastwood *Construction* to purchase the properties from GreenHawk on clear, definite and unequivocal material terms. To the contrary, the relinquishment by Eastwood Development of its contracts to purchase the tracts is entirely consistent with what the parties have repeatedly said about their initial intentions: that everyone hoped for Eastwood Construction to buy lots in Brooks Creek and River Falls once GreenHawk had developed them, but that GreenHawk and Eastwood Construction could not agree on material terms. But the mere fact that Eastwood Development surrendered the properties initially does not “clearly and unequivocally indicate” that Eastwood Construction had agreed to buy the lots back at a definite price and on a definite schedule.

Likewise, Eastwood Development’s transfer of a sliver of land to GreenHawk does not solely relate to a contract for Eastwood Construction to purchase Brooks Creek and River Falls lots from GreenHawk at a clear, definite and unequivocal price. Instead, such an action is consistent with what the undisputed evidence shows: that Eastwood Construction had written off both the River Falls and Brooks Creek projects and had not executed a lot sales contract for either tract. Accordingly, it had no reason to retain the sliver of land that it conveyed to GreenHawk.

Finally, the property improvements that Appellants cite in support of their part performance argument do not clearly or unequivocally relate to the purported lot sales contract. Evidence of

improvements made to the property, “while strong evidence of part performance, is neither conclusive of that issue nor indispensable proof of it.” *Scurry*, 232 S.C. at 61, 100 S.E.2d at 816–17 (citing *Carson v. Coleman*, 208 S.C. 406, 38 S.E.2d 147; *Aust*, 230 S.C. 515, 96 S.E.2d 558). Here, Eastwood Construction has stated that it was “always our intention to receive that predevelopment money back.” (R. p. 1323, DT p. 110, lines 22-23). Indeed, in the email that he sent to GreenHawk on June 8, 2020, Eastwood Construction’s Joe Polite sought such reimbursement of development costs from GreenHawk but did not make any mention whatsoever of a contract (now alleged by Appellants) to purchase the property. (R. p. 1265). This is clear and undisputed evidence that Appellants’ property improvements were intended to be *separately* compensable and did not relate solely to an alleged agreement for Eastwood Construction to purchase lots in Brooks Creek or River Falls. Accordingly, the improvements do not relate to the alleged lot sales contract alone, “exclusive of any other relation between parties touching such agreement.” *Player, supra*, 299 S.C. at 105–06, 382 S.E.2d at 894. Appellants’ part performance argument, therefore, must fail.

The principal legal authority that Appellants cite in support of the part performance exception is the South Carolina Supreme Court’s holding in *Parr v. Parr*, 268 S.C. 58, 231 S.E.2d 695 (1977). In that case, a father conveyed 469 acres in fee simple to his son with the understanding that his son would take out a loan on the property, give those loan proceeds to his father, and reconvey a fee simple interest in 7.14 of those acres back to his father to live on. The father complied with the agreement by granting the 469 acres in fee simple to his son, and the son secured the loan proceeds and gave them to his father. Rather than convey 7.14 acres back to his father in fee simple, however, the son conveyed only a life estate by written deed. Almost 20 years later, when the father discovered that his son had given him only a life estate to the 7.14 acres

rather than the agreed-upon fee simple interest, he sued, claiming that part performance on his part caused his agreement to survive the statute of frauds.

In upholding the father's claim and ordering the son to reconvey the 7.14 acres to his father in fee simple, the Supreme Court took particular note that the father had honored the agreement by relinquishing the entire 469 acre tract to his son. "Additionally," the Court observed, "[the father] and his wife have been continuously in possession of the 7.14 acre tract. This fact is evidence of the agreement of the parties that [the son] was to reconvey the 7.14 acres." *Id.*, 268 S.C. at 66, 231 S.E.2d at 698. The Court concluded that these critical facts supported application of the part performance exception to the Statute of Frauds.

Neither of these critical facts is present here. As noted above, it was Eastwood *Development*, not Eastwood *Construction*, that assigned its rights to purchase the Brooks Creek and River Falls parcels to GreenHawk. Moreover, unlike the father in *Parr*, neither Eastwood Development nor Eastwood Construction remained in possession of any portion of the property to which Eastwood Development had assigned its rights. *Parr* is thus easily distinguishable and has no application here.

Perhaps in an effort to overcome this critical distinction between *Parr* and their case, Appellants argue that *Honorage Nursing Home*, 367 S.C. 108, 623 S.E.2d 853 (Ct. App. 2005) demonstrates that actual possession of real property "is not necessary" "to establish [an] unwritten contract." (App. Br. 32). While Appellants are correct that actual possession is not *necessary*, *Honorage Nursing Home* offers no support to their position because of two critical factual distinctions between that case and this one. First, in *Honorage Nursing Home*, there existed a written contract between the parties that satisfied the Statute of Frauds. 367 S.C. at 115, 623 S.E.2d at 856. Thus, this Court's observations in that case concerning the part performance

doctrine were mere *dicta*. Second, the acts of part performance alleged by the defendant in *Honorage Nursing Home*—defendant’s vacating leased premises early and surrendering the furniture and fixtures to its landlord—were directly relatable and referable to the early lease termination contract alleged by defendant. Here, by contrast, the principal acts of part performance alleged by Eastwood Construction were undertaken not by Eastwood Construction itself, but by Eastwood Development, an admitted stranger to the alleged lot purchase contracts between Eastwood Construction and GreenHawk. Again, for the part performance doctrine to apply at all, it is the performance of Eastwood *Construction*—the party to the alleged oral contract—that matters.

In short, none of the acts cited by Appellants demonstrate that GreenHawk agreed to sell Brooks Creek and River Falls to Eastwood Construction for an agreed upon price, at any agreed upon time, and upon receiving an agreed upon deposit. The authority cited by Appellants is inapposite and does not support a finding of part performance here. Indeed, the heavy burden borne by Appellants to make out a part performance exception to the Statute of Frauds is made even clearer in decisions from some of South Carolina’s sister jurisdictions. Courts in Nebraska and Georgia, which follow a similar rule as South Carolina, have explained how acts relate “clearly and unequivocally” to an unwritten agreement so that the part performance doctrine applies. The Nebraska Supreme Court has described the “onerous burden of proof” on the party asserting the part performance exception as requiring the plaintiff to “prove not only that the alleged performance is referable to the oral contract, but also that the performance ‘cannot be accounted for on any other reasonable hypothesis.’” *Ficke v. Wolken*, 291 Neb. 482, 490, 868 N.W.2d 305, 311 (2015). Similarly, in Georgia, the actions that are held out to establish sufficient part performance must be “required by the terms of the contract” and must refer “to performance of the

provisions of the contract and not to acts done by one because of his belief in and reliance on the agreement.” *Zappa*, 188 Ga. App. at 476, 373 S.E.2d at 250. In other words, these courts, require that the actions serving as the basis for part performance must themselves be contractual terms. These requirements are fully consistent with the law of South Carolina and are persuasive here.

Because part performance cannot illuminate terms that never existed and because none of Appellants’ acts unequivocally related to a contract for the purchase of either property, the Statute of Frauds bars enforcement of the alleged contracts.

**C. There is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact that the Parties Were Neither Partners Nor Joint Venturers.**

In their Third Amended Complaint, Appellants presented for the first time the argument that the Eastwood entities and GreenHawk were partners or joint venturers in the Brooks Creek and River Falls projects. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 81, ¶ 69 (“As joint venturers, Eastwood and GreenHawk had fiduciary duties to one another.”), ¶ 74 (“Eastwood and Greenhawk were partners carrying on as co-owners of a business for profit.”)). Despite the Circuit Court’s holding that the parties were not joint venturers and that there was no genuine issue of material fact on this issue, Appellants revisit the argument on appeal. The dispute over whether Appellants and GreenHawk were joint venturers is moot, as the transfer of land between the parties would still be subject to the Statute of Frauds. In any event, there is no genuine dispute of material fact about whether the parties were joint venturers, as it is undisputed that the parties had no control over one another and did not share in profits and losses.

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